SUPREME COURT FILED

JAN 18 2011

Case Number S185827

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Anthony Kirby, et al., Plaintiffs and Appellants

VS.

Immoos Fire Protection, Inc.,
Defendant and Respondent

Appeal from a Decision of the Third Appellate District, Case Number C062306

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

LAW OFFICES OF ELLYN MOSCOWITZ, P.C. Ellyn Moscowitz (SBN 129287) Jennifer Lai (SBN 228117) 1629 Telegraph Avenue, Fourth Floor Oakland, California 94612 Telephone: (510) 899-6240 Facsimile: (510) 899-6245

ISSUES PRESENTED

Under the Court's Order dated November 17, 2010 and California Rule of Court 8.516(a)(1), the issues to be briefed and argued are limited to the following:

- (1) Does Labor Code section 1194 apply to a cause of action alleging meal and rest period violations (Cal. Labor Code § 226.7) or may attorney's fees be awarded under Labor Code section 218.5?
- (2) Is our analysis affected by whether the claims for meal and rest periods are brought alone or are accompanied by claims for minimum wage and overtime?

INTRODUCTION

The first issue asks the Court to determine whether the one-way fee shifting provision in Labor Code section 1194 or the two-way shifting provision in section 218.5 applies to a cause of action alleging violations of meal and rest period requirements under section 226.7. Law and public policy point in the same direction: section 1194 applies, and section 218.5 does not. The "additional hour of pay" owed under section 226.7 for a missed meal or rest break is mandated "premium pay," a self-executing payment, similar to the overtime premium or the payment of wages. A worker's right to this premium pay arises under statute, not private contract, and carries out California's important public policy of protecting the health and safety of workers and the public. Allowing employers to use section 218.5 to threaten workers seeking to enforce this premium pay with enormous liability and even financial ruin would render such enforcement

¹ Unless otherwise specified, all further statutory references are to the California Labor Code.

efforts untenable for numerous workers. In many circumstances, it would amount to a *de facto* repeal of meal and rest period premium requirements that the Legislature made clear that it wanted enforced. It would also frustrate the Legislature's intent to shield minimum labor standards from the risks inherent in section 218.5's two-way fee shifting provision.

Thus, as the appellate courts have concluded with analogous statutory rights, such as the right to overtime in *Earley v. Superior Court* (2000) 79 Cal.App.4th 1420, and the right to the prevailing wage in *Road Sprinkler Fitters Local Union No. 699 v. G&G Fire Sprinklers, Inc.* (2002) 102 Cal.App.4th 765, the one-way fee shifting provision of section 1194 must govern claims to enforce the rights to meal and rest breaks and to premium pay when those breaks are not provided. The reasoning in *Earley*, a Second Appellate District decision which the Legislature later codified, supports this result. So does this Court's decision in *Murphy v. Kenneth Cole Productions, Inc.* (2007) 40 Cal.4th 1094.

In holding to the contrary, the opinion in Kirby, et al. v. Immoos Fire Protection, Inc. (filed June 25, 2009, Court of Appeal No. C062306) [nonpub. Opn.] (the "Opinion" or "Immoos") sets new precedent that ignores Earley, misinterprets Murphy, and severely diminishes the ability of California's workers to enforce their statutory rights to minimum labor standards. In a few short paragraphs and without justifying its holding with a single published case, Immoos imposes a highly restrictive interpretation on section 1194. Properly interpreted, section 1194 alone applies to causes of action seeking recovery of statutorily-required unpaid meal and rest period premium pay. Thus, this Court should reverse Immoos, a serious misinterpretation of the Labor Code that will harm millions of workers in California.

Turning to the second question, a correct construction of the term "action" contained in section 218.5 would preclude imposition of section 218.5's two-way fee shifting provision when an employee alleges claims under section 1194 in his or her complaint, even if meal and rest period premium pay is determined not to be included within the coverage of section 1194. The danger of potentially ruinous personal liability for an employer's attorney's fees never should deter a worker who is seeking to enforce basic statutory protections. The plain language of section 218.5 and its legislative history compel this result. Contrary to Immoos, Earley does not support a construction of "action" as meaning "cause of action." And a plain language construction neither eviscerates section 218.5 nor leads to absurdity. Indeed, a plain language construction is fully consistent with the legislative design of fee shifting in the Labor Code: to protect and advance the minimum statutory rights of California's workers by allowing two-way fee shifting under section 218.5 only when private contractual rights are the sole matters at issue.

FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Plaintiffs and Appellants Anthony Kirby and Rick Leech, Jr. ("Appellants" or "Plaintiffs" or "Kirby") were sprinkler fitter construction workers and former employees of Defendant and Respondent Immoos Fire Protection, Inc. ("Immoos" or the "Company"), a fire protection subcontractor to general commercial and residential building contractors throughout California. (1 Joint Appendix ("JA") 0002:5-0002:9, 1 JA 0003:2-0003:7.) On January 3, 2007, Appellants filed suit against Immoos on behalf of themselves and approximately 150 current and former sprinkler fitters, alleging multiple unlawful labor and unfair business practices, including the Company's banking of overtime hours to avoid

paying the overtime premium, its failure to pay for "off-the-clock" work, and its failure to provide afternoon rest periods. (1 JA 0005:8-0016:2.) In total, Appellants alleged six causes of action against Imooos.² Appellants alleged a seventh cause of action under section 2810 against 750 Doe defendants who knew or should have known that the agreements entered into with Immoos did not contain sufficient funds to meet minimum labor standards in California. (1 JA 0014:1-0016:2.) On June 20, 2007, Immoos answered the Complaint. (2 JA 0097-0101.) On August 30, 2007, Appellants filed a First Amended Complaint ("FAC"), alleging the same six causes of action against Immoos and the same seventh cause of action against the Doe defendants. (1 JA 0017-0032.)

On August 11, 2008, Appellants amended the FAC to identify four Doe defendants: Hilbers, Inc. ("Hilbers"), D.R. Horton, Inc., Sacramento ("D.R. Horton"), Meritage Homes of California, Inc. ("Meritage"), and Shea Homes, Inc. ("Shea") (collectively, the "General Contractor Defendants"). (1 JA 0035-0042.) On October 1, 2008, Appellants and Hilbers entered into a conditional settlement agreement. (1 JA 0043-0044;

Appellants alleged Immoos violated the following statutory provisions: (1) Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200 ("First Cause of Action"); (2) Cal. Labor Code §§ 201, 203, 204 for failure to pay all wages owed, including the overtime premium and "off-the-clock" work ("Second Cause of Action"); (3) Cal. Labor Code §§ 204.3 and 510 and Industrial Wage Commission ("IWC") Order 16-2001 for failure to pay the overtime premium ("Third Cause of Action"); (4) Cal. Labor Code § 223 for secret payment of lower wages, including failure to pay wages for all hours worked and failure to pay the overtime premium ("Fourth Cause of Action"); (5) Cal. Labor Code § 226 for failure to provide itemized wage statements ("Fifth Cause of Action"); (6) IWC Order 16-2001 for failure to provide afternoon rest periods ("Sixth Cause of Action"). (1 JA 0007:24-0013:25.) The Complaint also alleged violations of section 226.7, which were incorporated by reference into the Sixth Cause of Action. (Cal. Labor Code § 226.7; 1 JA 0002:18-26; 1 JA 0013:17-18.)

see Motion for Judicial Notice ("MJN") filed concurrently with this Opening Brief Ex. J (specifically, see Ex. B of Ex. J).) On October 14, 2008, November 21, 2008, and December 2, 2008, Appellants entered into similar conditional settlements with the remaining three General Contractor Defendants, D.R Horton, Shea, and Meritage. (1 JA 0046-0047, 0049-0050; see also MJN Ex. J (specifically, see Exs. A, C, D, E of Ex. J).)

Meanwhile, Appellants continued to litigate the class case against Immoos. On November 19, 2008, Appellants noticed their motion for class certification. (1 JA 0053.) On January 12, 2009, the trial court denied Appellants' motion for class certification. (2 JA 0214.)

Appellants then executed their conditional settlements with the General Contractor Defendants and dismissed the FAC against each of these defendants. (1 JA 0056-0063; MJN Ex. J.) After receiving all settlement monies due, totaling \$6,000.00, Appellants filed a request for dismissal against all parties on all remaining causes of action on February 27, 2009. (1 JA 0062; MJN Ex. J.)

Initially, Immoos sought only to recover its costs. (2 JA 0071:27-0072:2.) But on April 24, 2009, Immoos filed a motion for attorney's fees against Kirby. (2 JA 0071-0080.) In its motion, Immoos conceded it could not be awarded section 218.5 fees for the Second, Third, Fourth, and Fifth Causes of Action, which overlapped with Appellants' overtime allegations and were protected from two-way fee shifting by section 1194. (2 JA 0073:28-0074:26.) Immoos argued, however, that section 218.5 fees could be awarded for the following three causes of action, which it claimed were "unconnected:" (1) the Sixth Cause of Action; (2) the Seventh Cause of Action; and (3) the First Cause of Action for unfair business practices

which incorporated the Sixth and Seventh Causes of Action. (2 JA 0074-0077.)

In calculating the amount claimed in attorney's fees, Immoos argued it was "impossible" to "provide an accurate itemization of all hours performed on each of the Causes of Action, or parts thereof, for which Defendant is entitled, as the billing does not include that type of specificity;" hence, Immoos used the following formula: "2 Causes of Action divided by 8 Causes of Action equals 25%. 2.5 Causes of Action divided by 8 Causes of Action equals 31.25%." (2 JA 0077-0078.)

Using this formula, Immoos claimed that Appellants owed 30 percent of \$143,598.50 in pre-petition fees plus another \$6,766.50 in petition-related fees, for an incorrectly computed total of \$46,846.05. (2 JA 0071-0080.) The corrected figure ultimately calculated by the trial court was \$49,846.05 – more than eight times the amount Appellants had recovered in their settlements with the General Contractor Defendants. (3 JA 0425-0426; 1 JA 0064, 2 JA 0071-0080, 3 JA 347; see MJN Ex. J.)

On July 9, 2009, the trial court awarded Immoos the entire \$49,846.05 of fees under section 218.5, together with interest beginning on the May 26, 2009 hearing date. (3 JA 0425-0426.)

Kirby appealed the trial court's decision. (3 JA 0415-0416.) Then, on July 27, 2010, the Third District Court of Appeal reversed the trial court's order awarding attorney's fees on the First and Seventh Causes of Action. (Op., pp. 10, 21-26.) But the Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's order granting attorney's fees under section 218.5 to Immoos for its defense of the Sixth Cause of Action, which sought premium pay for missed rest periods. (Op., pp. 10, 18-21, 27.)

On August 27, 2010, Appellants filed a Petition for Review (the "Petition"). Due to the important public policy considerations raised by the Opinion, including its impact on workers' ability to enforce their rights under the Labor Code, a number of *amici curiae* filed letters in support of the Petition.³ On November 17, 2010, this Court granted review.

ARGUMENT

I. SECTION 1194 CONTROLS THE AWARD OF ATTORNEY'S FEES IN ACTIONS TO RECOVER UNPAID MEAL AND REST PERIOD PREMIUM PAY

The Legislature intended section 1194 to control the award of attorney's fees in causes of action alleging section 226.7 violations. It so demonstrated through: (1) the language of section 1194; (2) the Legislature's clear statements of intent when it amended section 218.5 and codified *Earley* to restrict the application of section 218.5; and (3) the statutory and regulatory context of fee shifting and meal and rest period enforcement in the Labor Code.

A. General Principles of Statutory Interpretation

Several established rules of interpretation apply to both issues presented. The cardinal rule is to ascertain the Legislature's intent so as to effectuate the statute's intended purpose. (Van Horn v. Watson (2008) 45

Four organizations and five individuals submitted letters. Appellants identify these *amicus curiae* letters by name and date: (1) Consumer Attorneys of California (dated Sept. 3, 2010); (2) State Building and Construction Trades Council of California, American Federation of Labor-Congress of Industrial Organizations ("AFL-CIO") (dated Sept. 9, 2010); (3) California Labor Federation, AFL-CIO (dated Sept. 10, 2010); (4) Lieff Cabraser Heiman & Bernstein, LLP (dated Sept. 27, 2010); and (5) Albert H. Cicairos, Richard Wheeler, Frank Daniel, George Thompson, and Kenneth Bluford (dated Sept. 27, 2010).

Cal.4th 322, 326 (citing Lennane v. Franchise Tax Board (1994) 9 Cal.4th 263, 268).) Construction begins with the statutory language. (Smith v. Superior Court (2006) 39 Cal.4th 77, 83.) If the language is unambiguous, "the plain meaning controls and resort to extrinsic sources to determine the Legislature's intent is unnecessary." (Bonnell v. Medical Board of California (2003) 31 Cal.4th 1255, 1261 (citation omitted).) The Court should attempt to harmonize the language within the larger context of the statutory scheme:

The words of the statute must be construed in context, keeping in mind the statutory purpose, and the statutes or statutory sections relating to the same subject must be harmonized, both internally and with each other, to the extent possible.

(Dyna-Med, Inc. v. Fair Employment & Housing Comm'n (1987) 43 Cal.3d 1379, 1387 (citations omitted).)

If the statutory language is unclear and the terms used are not "specifically defined," the Court may turn to "expressions of legislative intent to construe [the terms] in the statute's relative context." (White v. Ultramar, Inc. (1999) 21 Cal.4th 563, 572.) The Court then should "choose the construction that comports most closely with the Legislature's apparent intent, endeavoring to promote rather than defeat the statute's general purpose, and avoiding a construction that would lead to absurd consequences." (Smith, 39 Cal.4th at 83 (citation omitted).) "A literal construction . . . will not control when such a construction would frustrate the manifest purpose of the enactment as a whole." (Arias v. Superior Court (2009) 46 Cal.4th 969, 991 (citation omitted).) "The intent prevails over the letter, and the letter will, if possible, be so read as to conform to the spirit of the act." (Arias, 46 Cal.4th at 979 (citation omitted).) Language should be interpreted as "workable and reasonable, practical, in

accord with common sense and justice." (Halbert's Lumber, Inc. v. Lucky Stores, Inc. (1992) 6 Cal. App.4th 1233, 1239-1240 (citations omitted).)

Significantly, "statutes governing conditions of employment are to be construed broadly in favor of protecting employees." (Murphy, 40 Cal.4th at 1103 (citing Sav-On Drug Stores, Inc. v. Superior Court (2004) 34 Cal.4th 319, 340; Ramirez v. Yosemite Water Co. (1999) 20 Cal.4th 785, 794; Lusardi Construction Co. v. Aubry (1992) 1 Cal.4th 976, 985.) Indeed, "past decisions . . . teach that in light of the remedial nature of the legislative enactments authorizing the regulation of wages, hours and working conditions for the protection and benefit of employees, the statutory provisions are to be liberally construed with an eye to promoting such protection." (Ramirez, 20 Cal.4th at 794 (citing Industrial Welfare Com. v. Superior Court (1980) 27 Cal.3d 690, 702).) This "liberal construction rule" should be applied by the Court when construing the Labor Code.

Finally, "when a general and particular provision are inconsistent, the latter is paramount to the former." (Cal. Civ. Proc. Code § 1859.) And "[w]here uncertainty exists consideration should be given to the consequences that will flow from a particular interpretation." (*Dyna-Med*, 43 Cal.3d at 1386-87 (citations omitted).)

The Opinion does not apply these principles of construction in determining whether section 1194 or section 218.5 applies to the Sixth Cause of Action. Instead, it contains an overly restrictive reading of section 1194. It does not consider the Legislature's express intent to shield statutory minimum labor standards from section 218.5's reach, nor does it harmonize any of the provisions at issue within their statutory and

regulatory context. Finally, and most importantly, it does not apply the "liberal construction" rule to these important worker protection provisions.

B. Fee Shifting in the Labor Code: The Statutes

Section 1194 bars prevailing employers from seeking attorney's fees in civil actions brought by workers to recover "the legal minimum wage or the legal overtime compensation." (Cal. Labor Code § 1194.) Enacted in 1913, and amended in 1991 to include the recovery of attorney's fees, section 1194 provides, in relevant part:

(a) Notwithstanding any agreement to work for a lesser wage, any employee receiving less than the legal minimum wage or the legal overtime compensation applicable to the employee is entitled to recover in a civil action the unpaid balance of the full amount of this minimum wage or overtime compensation, including interest thereon, reasonable attorney's fees, and costs of suit.

(Cal. Labor Code § 1194(a) (emphasis added).) Prevailing employers may seek attorney's fees in actions covered under section 218.5. (Cal. Labor Code § 218.5.) Enacted in 1986, and amended in 2000 to include a second paragraph, section 218.5 provides:

In any action brought for the nonpayment of wages, fringe benefits, or health and welfare or pension fund contributions, the court shall award reasonable attorney's fees and costs to the prevailing party if any party to the action requests attorney's fees and costs upon the initiation of the action. This section shall not apply to an action brought by the Labor Commissioner. This section shall not apply to a surety issuing a bond pursuant to Chapter 9 (commencing with Section 7000) of Division 3 of the Business and Professions Code or to an action to enforce a mechanics lien brought under Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 3109) of Title 15 of Part 4 of Division 3 of the Civil Code.

This section does not apply to any action for which attorney's fees are recoverable under Section 1194.

(Cal. Labor Code § 218.5 (emphasis added).) The second paragraph, specifically referencing section 1194, was added as part of Assembly Bill 2509 ("AB 2509"). (A.B. 2509, Stats. 2000, ch. 876, § 4; see Cal. Labor Code § 218.5.)

Section 218.5 is one of nine Labor Code provisions that provides for two-way fee shifting.⁴ The other 46 fee shifting provisions in the Labor Code are all one-way provisions. Forty-four of these provisions provide for one-way fee shifting in favor of employees; two provisions allow for one-way fee shifting in favor of employers that prevail against public entities.⁵ No provision in the Labor Code allows a one-way fee shift in favor of

Only two provisions of the Labor Code expressly permit an employer to recover attorney's fees. One is for employers who prevail in an Occupational Health and Safety Administration appeal (Cal. Labor Code § 149.5), and the other is for contractors/employers who seek to recover differences paid in public work projects from the awarding body (Cal. Labor Code § 1726). An employee is never an opposing party in these proceedings.

⁴ Four of the other eight two-way fee shifting provisions require a finding of bad faith or contempt (Cal. Labor Code §§ 98.7, 2673.1, 4062.3, 5813), three are related to collective bargaining agreements, arbitrations, and public works projects (Cal. Labor Code §§ 1128, 1730, 2692), and one provision applies to Berman appeals (Cal. Labor Code § 98.2).

Appellants have located 55 attorney's fees provisions in the Labor Code. Of these provisions, 44 are one-way for the employee: Cal. Labor Code §§ 1193.6, 1194, 1774 (wages); Cal. Labor Code §§ 226, 233 (sick leave); Cal. Labor Code §§ 1062, 1073, 1695.7, 1697, 1697.1, 2673.1, 2677, 2810 (employment with contractors and successor contractors in the janitorial, public transit, farm labor and garment industries); Cal. Labor Code §§ 1700.25, 1704.2 (talent agencies); Cal. Labor Code § 2802 (employees' expenditures); Cal. Labor Code § 432.7 (employment records); Cal. Labor Code § 1404 (Worker Adjustment Retraining and Notification Act); Cal. Labor Code § 1197.5 (wage discrimination); and 24 one-way provisions relating to workers' compensation litigation.

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