IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT FILED

ANTHONY KIRBY et al.

MAR 21 2011

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

Frederick K. Ommon Clerk

vs.

IMMOOS FIRE PROTECTION, INC.,

Deputy

Defendant and Respondent.

Petition for Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeal
Third Appellate District Case Number C062306

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Robert L. Rediger, Esq. (CA State Bar No. 109392)

Laura C. McHugh, Esq. (CA State Bar No. 180930)

Jimmie E. Johnson, Esq. (CA State Bar No. 223344)

Rediger, McHugh & Owensby, LLP

555 Capitol Mall, Suite 1240

Sacramento, California 95814

Telephone: (916) 442-0033

Facsimile: (916) 498-1246

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Section 1194 does not apply to a cause of action alleging meal and rest period violations, and attorney's fees may be awarded to a prevailing defendant for such actions under Section 218.5. To harmonize the legislative intent of both Sections 218.5 and 1194, Section 1194 must be read to bar employers from recovering attorney's fees only as to causes of action seeking to recover the unpaid balance of the "legal minimum wage' or "legal overtime compensation."

The legislative history behind Section 226.7 shows that the California State Legislature did not intend to include a unilateral attorney's

fee provision for that section. The legislative history behind Sections 218.5 and 1194 shows that the Legislature intended that an employee would be required to pay an employer's attorney's fees under section 218.5 when the employer was the prevailing party in an action brought for the nonpayment of any "wage" other than for the "legal minimum wage' or "legal overtime compensation."

As used in section 1194, the phrase "legal minimum wage" is a reference to the minimum hourly wage rate set by the IWC, and the phrase "legal overtime compensation" is a reference to a rate of pay required by law for work performed in excess of the period prescribed as a workday or workweek.

An action brought under Section 226.7 is neither an action to recover the "legal minimum wage," nor an action to recover "legal overtime compensation," subject to Section 1194. This Court should reject the expansive definition of these phrases urged by Appellants. In addition, the term "wages" in section 218.5 is not limited only to wages required by contract.

Finally, the Court's analysis is not affected by whether claims for meal and rest periods are brought alone or are accompanied by claims for the "legal minimum wage" and "legal overtime compensation." Appellants' proffered interpretation of the term "action" would force plaintiffs to choose between seeking attorney's fees or recovery of all wages owed, and would expand the scope of Section 218.5 to potentially every civil cause of action. The Legislature and this Court have already determined that the term "action" refers to a "right of action," not an entire lawsuit.

ARGUMENT

- I. LABOR CODE SECTION 1194 DOES NOT APPLY TO CAUSES OF ACTION ALLEGING MEAL OR REST PERIOD VIOLATIONS AND ATTORNEY'S FEES MAY BE AWARDED FOR SUCH VIOLATIONS UNDER LABOR CODE SECTION 218.5.
 - A. To Harmonize Sections 218.5 and 1194 of the Labor Code, Section 1194 Must Be Read to Bar Employers From Recovering Attorney's Fees Pursuant to Section 218.5 Only as to Causes of Action Seeking to Recover the Unpaid Balance of the Legal Minimum Wage or Legal Overtime Compensation.

According to its plain terms, Section 1194 permits an employee to recover his or her attorney's fees in a civil action seeking the unpaid balance of the full amount of the legal minimum wage or the legal overtime compensation applicable to the employee. Section 218.5, according to its plain terms, permits the prevailing party to recover his or her attorney's fees in an action brought for the *nonpayment of wages* provided that the action is not one for which attorney's fees are recoverable under Section 1194. In its decision below, the Third Appellate District acknowledged that the goal of this case is to harmonize these two potentially conflicting Labor Code sections. (Slip Op., Case No. C062306, p. 14.) (See also *Industrial Welfare* Commission v. Super. Ct. (Cal. Hotel and Motel Assn.) (1980) 27 Cal.3d 690, 723 ("CHMA") ["A cardinal principle of statutory construction ... decrees that all related statutory provisions must be read together and harmonized, if possible."].) As discussed below, the proper harmony is that Section 218.5 applies to any wage claim unless the action concerns the hourly minimum wage rate set by the IWC, or the overtime compensation provided by Section 510.

B. The Legislative History Behind Section 226.7 Shows That the Legislature Did Not Intend to Include a Unilateral Attorney's Fee Provision for that Section.

Section 226.7, subdivision (b) provides, "If an employer fails to provide an employee a meal period or rest period in accordance with an applicable order of the Industrial Welfare Commission, the employer shall pay the employee one additional hour of pay at the employee's regular rate of compensation for each work day that the meal or rest period is not provided." An action brought under Section 226.7 is considered one for the nonpayment of "wages." (Murphy v. Kenneth Cole Productions, Inc. (2007) 40 Cal.4th 1094, 1114, 1120 ("Murphy").)

Appellants argue that the Legislature intended Section 1194 to apply to all legally-mandated wages. (AOB, pp. 7-35.) However, the question before the Court is not whether the Legislature intended Section 1194 to apply to all legally-mandated wages when that section was last amended in 1992, but rather the more appropriate question is whether the Legislature intended Section 226.7, enacted in 2000, to apply to Section 1194. As will be shown, the legislative history of Section 226.7 evidences that the Legislature did not consider the section subject to Section 1194, and that it rejected the inclusion of a unilateral attorney's fee provision into Section 226.7.

In *Murphy*, this Court determined that the additional hour of pay required by Section 226.7 was a "wage," not a "penalty," and in so doing, relied in part, on the fact that the Legislature considered, but rejected, an explicit penalty provision within the section. (*Murphy, supra,* 40 Cal.4th at pp. 1107, 1114, 1120.) It is well settled that "[t]he rejection of a specific provision contained in an act as originally introduced is 'most persuasive' that the act should not be interpreted to include what was left out. [Citation.] Indeed, the Legislature certainly knows how to impose a penalty

when it wants to, having established penalties in many Labor Code statutes...." (*Id.* at p. 1107.)

Section 226.7 was originally introduced on February 19, 1999 as part of an omnibus labor and employment bill, Assembly Bill 633 (1999) ("AB 633"). (Assem. Bill No. 633 (1999-2000 Reg. Sess.) [Respondent Immoos' Motion for Judicial Notice ("Respondent's RJN"), Ex. A] § 9.) In its original form, AB 633 included at Section 9 a proposed Section 226.7 that would have required a court to "grant a prevailing plaintiff reasonable attorney's fees and costs" in a civil action for missed meal or rest periods. (Assem. Bill No. 633 (1999-2000 Reg. Sess.) [Respondent's RJN, Ex. A] § 9 [proposed Section 226.7, subdivision (c)(2)].) During the legislative process, proposed Section 226.7 was later moved into a different omnibus labor and employment bill, Assembly Bill 1652 (1999) ("AB 1652"). (Sen. Amend. to Assem. Bill No. 1652 (1999-2000 Reg. Sess.) Sept. 3, 1999 [Respondent's RJN, Ex. B] § 5.) This version of Section 226.7 contained the same unilateral attorney's fee provision affording only prevailing plaintiffs attorney's fees awards. (Sen. Amend. to Assem. Bill No. 1652 (1999-2000 Reg. Sess.) Sept. 3, 1999 [Respondent's RJN, Ex. B] § 5.) However, on September 8, 1999, the unilateral attorney's fee provision was rejected and removed from AB 1652. (Sen. Amend. to Assem. Bill No. 1652 (1999-2000 Reg. Sess.) Sept. 8, 1999 [Respondent's RJN, Ex. C] § 4.)

The next year, on February 24, 2000, the Legislature again introduced Section 226.7 in labor and employment legislation in the form of Assembly Bill 2509 (2000) ("AB 2509"). (Assem. Bill No. 2509 (1999-2000 Reg. Sess.) [Respondent's RJN, Ex. D] § 12.) In Section 12 of AB 2509, a proposed new Section 226.7 appeared that again included a provision that would require a court in a civil action for missed meal or rest periods to "award a prevailing plaintiff in such an action reasonable attorney's fees." (Assem. Bill No. 2509 (1999-2000 Reg. Sess.)

[Respondent's RJN, Ex. D] § 12 [proposed Section 226.7, subdivision (c)(2)].)

On April 12, 2000, the Assembly Committee on Labor and Employment issued an analysis of AB 2509 specifically providing that "[i]t does not increase minimum wages or revise overtime requirements." (Assem. Com. on Lab. and Employment, Rep. on Assem. Bill No. 2509 (1999-2000 Reg. Sess.) Apr. 12, 2000 [Respondent's RJN, Ex. E], p. 5.) The Legislature provided a definitive statement that it did not consider Section 226.7, or any other provision within AB 2509, as providing for actions of "the legal minimum wage or legal overtime compensation."

In addition, on August 25, 2000, AB 2509 was amended and the new version of the bill eliminated the language from proposed Section 226.7 that had required the court to award a prevailing plaintiff reasonable attorney's fees in a civil action for missed meal or rest periods. (Sen. Amend. to Assem. Bill No. 2509 (1999-2000 Reg. Sess.) August 25, 2000 [Respondent's RJN, Ex. F] § 7.) In place of the language that had appeared in proposed Section 226.7, subdivision (c)(2), a new subdivision (b) was substituted and read, "If an employer fails to provide an employee a meal period or rest period in accordance with an applicable order of the Industrial Welfare Commission, the employer shall pay the employee one additional hour of pay at the employee's regular rate of compensation for each work day that the meal or rest period is not provided." (Sen. Amend. to Assem. Bill No. 2509 (1999-2000 Reg. Sess.) August 25, 2000 [Respondent's RJN, Ex. F] § 7.)

On September 28, 2000, AB 2509 was approved by the Governor and enacted into law as Statutes 2000, Chapter 876. (Stats. 2000, ch. 876 [Respondent's RJN, Ex. G].)

As referenced above, "[t]he rejection of a specific provision contained in an act as originally introduced is 'most persuasive' that the act

should not be interpreted to include what was left out." (*Murphy, supra*, 40 Cal.4th at p. 1107.) The Legislature's decision to *twice* abandon a unilateral attorney's fee provision in Section 226.7 that would have awarded attorney's fees only to a prevailing plaintiff "is most persuasive" that the act should not be interpreted to include such a provision. As demonstrated by the legislative history leading up to Section 227.6 becoming law, the Legislature knew how to include a unilateral attorney's fee provision in Section 226.7. In fact, the Legislature provided for awards of "reasonable attorney's fees" to various specified parties within the same enactment. (Stats. 2000, ch. 876 [Respondent's RJN, Ex. G], §§ 2, 6 [Section 2 regarding Labor Code section 98.2, subdivision (c) and (j), Section 6 regarding Labor Code section 226, subdivision (b)].)

In addition, the Legislature is presumed to have existing laws in mind when it enacts a new statute. (In re Michael G. (1988) 44 Cal.3d 283, 293.) The legislative history of AB 2509 demonstrates that the Legislature considered the private right of action and unilateral attorney's fee provision originally considered for Section 226.7 as creating a new disincentive against employers forcing their employees to work during their lunch and meal periods. (Cal. Dept. Industrial Relations, Enrolled Bill Rep. on Assem. Bill No. 2509 (1999-2000 Reg. Sess.) Sept. 13, 2000 [Respondent's RJN, Ex. H], p. 9 ["Currently, the means of enforcing meal period requirements consists of filing an action for injunctive relief...."]; see also Sen. Judiciary Com., Rep. on Assem. Bill No. 2509 (1999-2000 Reg. Sess.) Aug. 8, 2000 [Respondent's RJN, Ex. I], pp. 2, 6-7.) Therefore, the Legislature did not consider Section 226.7 as subject to the identical private right of action and unilateral attorney's fee provision found within Section 1194. (Earley v. Super. Ct. (Washington Mutual Bank, F.A.) (2000) 79 Cal.App.4th 1420, 1428-1429 ("Earley") [employing same legal analysis].)

C. The Legislative History Behind Section 218.5 Shows that the Legislature Intended That an Employee Would Be Required to Pay an Employer's Attorney's Fees Under Section 218.5 When the Employer was the Prevailing Party in an Action Brought for the Nonpayment of Wages.

In 1986, the Legislature enacted Section 218.5. (Stats. 1986, ch. 1211 [Respondent's RJN, Ex. J], § 1.) In 1986, the first sentence of Section 218.5 read the same as it does today, i.e., "In any action brought for the nonpayment of wages, fringe benefits, or health and welfare or pension fund contributions, the court shall award reasonable attorney's fees and costs to the prevailing party if any party to the action requests attorney's fees and costs upon the initiation of the action." (Stats. 1986, ch. 1211 [Respondent's RJN, Ex. J], § 1.) The legislative history of Senate Bill 2570 (1986), the enabling legislation for Section 218.5, illustrates the purposes behind that section.

First, the Senate Committee on Judiciary's analysis of Senate Bill 2570 framed one of the "key issues" presented by the bill as "Should attorney's fees be awarded to the prevailing party in any action for the nonpayment of wages, fringe benefits, or health and welfare or pension fund contributions," (Sen. Com. on Judiciary, Rep. on Sen. Bill No. 2570 (1985-1986 Reg. Sess.) 1986 [Respondent's RJN, Ex. K], p. 1), and explained the "purpose" of the bill was "to provide that the burden of paying attorney's fees should in all fairness rest on the unsuccessful litigant in actions for nonpayment of wages....," (Sen. Com. on Judiciary, Rep. on Sen. Bill No. 2570 (1985-1986 Reg. Sess.) 1986 [Respondent's RJN, Ex. K], p. 2).

Second, the Assembly Committee on Judiciary's analysis of Senate Bill 2570 noted that "actions for nonpayment of wages" usually involve relatively small amounts of money and the expense of hiring an attorney often exceeds the value of the claim, and "further pointed out" that the bill "protects employers from frivolous suits because it requires an unsuccessful employee-plaintiff to pay the employer's attorneys' fees." (Assem. Com. on Judiciary, Rep. on Sen. Bill No. 2570 (1985-1986 Reg. Sess.) July 8, 1986 [Respondent's RJN, Ex. L], p. 1.)

Third, the Senate Rules Committee, in setting forth the "Arguments In Support" of Section 218.5, stated that "actions for nonpayment of wages usually involve relatively small amounts of money," and the expense of hiring an attorney often exceeds the value of the claim; and added, "Conversely, employers will be protected from frivolous suits for nonpayment of wages since the employee will be required to pay the employer's legal fees when the employer is the prevailing party." (Sen. Rules Com., Rep. on Sen. Bill No. 2570 (1985-1986 Reg. Sess.) May 6, 1986 [Respondent's RJN, Ex. M], p. 2.)

Fourth, in the Department of Industrial Relation's Enrolled Bill Report to the Governor recommending that he sign SB 2570 into law, the "Recommendation" included a mention of a "side effect" of such legislation that would require a court to award attorney's fees to a prevailing party in an action subject to Section 218.5 as "increas[ing] the case load of the Division [of Labor Standards Enforcement] since claimants would be more likely to file with the Labor Commissioner in order to avoid the possibility of attorney's fees being awarded by a court." (Cal. Dept. Industrial Relations, Enrolled Bill Rep. on Sen. Bill No. 2570 (1985-1986 Reg. Sess.) Aug. 26, 1986 [Respondent's RJN, Ex. N], p. 2.)

Accordingly, the legislative history of Section 218.5 provides that the law's purpose is three-fold: 1) give employees a financial incentive to seek relief in meritorious wage actions with the prospect of the court awarding them attorney's fees; 2) discourage employees from filing unmeritorious wage actions with the prospect of the court issuing an attorney's fee award against them; and 3) encourage employees to file wage

actions with the Labor Commissioner, instead of civil court, where the prospect of a hostile attorney's fee award does not exist.

D. The Phrase "Legal Minimum Wage" as Used in Section 1194 Is a Reference to the Minimum Hourly Wage Rate Set by the IWC.

In 2000, the Legislature amended Section 218.5 by adding the following sentence: "This section does not apply to any action for which attorney's fees are recoverable under Section 1194." (Stats. 2000, ch. 876 [Respondent's RJN, Ex. G], § 4.) Section 1194, subdivision (a) states, "Notwithstanding any agreement to work for a lesser wage, any employee receiving less than the legal minimum wage or the legal overtime compensation applicable to the employee is entitled to recover in a civil action the unpaid balance of the full amount of this minimum wage or overtime compensation, including interest thereon, reasonable attorney's fees, and costs of suit." (Lab. Code, § 1194, subd. (a).) Accordingly, a defendant-employer that prevails in any action for the nonpayment of wages, except for claims concerning "the legal minimum wage or the legal overtime compensation," is entitled to an award of attorney's fees.

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